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I. STATEMENT 
1. On April 24, 2014, the Public Utilities Commission’s Staff (Staff) issued Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 109241 against Colorado Cab Company LLC (Colorado Cab or Respondent).  The CPAN alleges over 700 violations against Colorado Cab.

2. On May 5, 2014, Respondent filed its Entry of Appearance Request for a Hearing and Request to Set a Prehearing Conference.

3. On May 21, 2014, the Commission referred this matter to an administrative law judge (ALJ) for disposition.

4. On May 21, 2014, Staff filed its Entry of Appearance, Joinder in Request for a Prehearing Conference and Notice Pursuant to Rule 1007(A).  

5. The procedural history of this proceeding is set out in previous Decisions and is repeated here as necessary to put this Decision in context.

6. On August 7, 2014, Colorado Cab filed its Motion to Dismiss Fraud Violations (Motion to Dismiss). 

7. On August 20, 2014, Staff filed its Unopposed Motion for Extension of Time to File Response. 

8.  By Interim Decision No. R14-1020-I, issued on August 22, 2014, the Unopposed Motion for Extension of Time to File Response was granted.

9. On August 26, 2014, Staff filed its Response to Colorado Cab’s Motion to Dismiss Fraud Violations. 

10. On August 28, 2014, Colorado Cab filed its Motion to Reply in Support of its Motion to Dismiss.

11. On September 9, 2014, Staff filed its Response to Colorado Cab’s Motion to Reply in Support of its Motion to Dismiss.

12. By Interim Decision No. R14-1133-I, issued September 15, 2014, the Motion to Reply in Support of its Motion to Dismiss was granted.

13. On September 26, 2014, Colorado Cab filed its Reply in Support of its Motion to Dismiss the Fraud Violations.

14. On November 24, 2014, by Interim Decision No. R14-1403-I, the Motion to Dismiss was denied. In that decision, Staff was required to make a filing designating which subsection they allege Colorado Cab violated for each violation of 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 390.35. Staff was required to make this filing by December 5, 2014. Staff was also advised that failure to make the required filing by December 5, 2014 could result in the dismissal of all alleged violations of 49 CFR § 390.35.
15. On December 5, 2014, Staff made a filing in response to Interim Decision No. R14-1403-I indicating that Staff alleged violations of subsection (b) of 49 CFR § 390.35 and also amended the description of the nature of violation to read as follows:
No motor carrier, its agents, officer, representatives, or employees shall make or cause to make a fraudulent or intentionally false entry on any application, certificate, report or record required to be used, completed, or retained, to comply with any requirement of this subchapter or part 325 of subchapter A. Specifically, Respondent produced drivers’ hours of service records, required by law to be true and accurate, to Staff personnel which Respondent knew or should have known were not true and accurate.
16. On December 23, 2014, Colorado Cab filed its Motion for Reconsideration of its Motion to Dismiss Fraud Charges (Motion to Reconsider). In its Motion to Reconsider, Colorado Cab argues that Staff did not provide enough information to meet statutory requirements or provide proper due process. Colorado Cab cites recent Commission Decision No. C14-1452, Proceeding No. 14G-0359CP issued December 9, 2014, in support of this argument.

17. In addition, Colorado Cab argues that the description provided by Staff in its filing of December 5, 2014 alleges a different violation and is also a due process violation.

18. On January 6, 2015, Staff filed its Response to Colorado Cab Company LLC’s Motion for Reconsideration of its Motion to Dismiss Fraud Charges. 

II. ARGUMENTS OF COLORADO CAB
19. Colorado Cab renews its request that the Commission dismiss violations 236 through 658 in CPAN No. 109241 issued on April 24, 2014. The violations that Colorado Cab requests be dismissed all involve violations of 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 
723-6-6102(a)(I) of the Commission’s Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle and 49 CFR § 390.35(b) and /or 4 CCR 723-6-6106(b). 

20. Colorado Cab argues that the amendment made to the CPAN by Staff’s filing on December 5, 2014 is not adequate to meet due process requirements.  In support of this argument Colorado Cab cites to Commission Decision No. C14-1452 in which the Commission upheld the Recommended Decision of ALJ Mirbaba in sua sponte dismissing an alleged violation contained in a CPAN due to the cited statute being general and not specific to the rule or statute violated.  Colorado Cab argues that since 49 CFR § 390.35(b) is also a general statute due to the phrase "retained to comply with a requirement of this subchapter or part 325 of Subchapter A."
21. Colorado Cab contends that 49 CFR § 390.35(b) refers to “a vast set of rules some of which may require reports” and that Colorado Cab “has no idea what regulatory requirement is at issue.”
 Colorado Cab also argues that the description of the violation is insufficient to cure this defect.  

22. Colorado Cab also argues that the revised description contained in the CPAN alleges a different violation thereby depriving Colorado Cab of due process.  

III. ARGUMENTS OF STAFF
23. Staff argues that the amended CPAN provides “specific information” as to the statutory requirements it is alleged to have violated. 

24. Staff also finds Colorado Cab’s assertion that it has no idea what regulatory requirement is at issue to be “incredulous and concerning”
 since Yellow Cab’s drivers’ hours of service have been at issue throughout this proceeding.

25. Staff also rejects Colorado Cab’s argument that the description contained in the amended CPAN is inadequate. Staff argues that it has been previously determined in Decision No. R14-1402-I issued November 24, 2014, that the description met the requirements of 
§ 40-7-116, C.R.S.

26. In addition, Staff argues the amended CPAN clarifies the description of the alleged violation and does not create a new violation.

IV. DISCUSSION
A. Due Process 

27. In Decision No. R14-1402, the undersigned ALJ required the following:

The Staff of the Public Utilities Commission shall file an amendment to Civil Penalty Assessment No. 109241 designating the subsection of 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 390.35 they allege was violated by Colorado Cab LLC, for each alleged violation of 49 CFR § 390.35 by end of business on December 5, 2014. Failure to make this filing may result in the dismissal of all alleged violations of 49 CFR § 390.35.
28. In making this request, the undersigned ALJ was concerned that it would not be clear to Colorado Cab which subsection of 49 CFR § 390.35 Staff intended to pursue in the evidentiary hearing. Each subsection of 49 CFR § 390.35 requires a fraudulent or intentionally false act but each subsection designates a different means by which a violation could occur. Subsection (a) concerns statements, subsection (b) concerns entries, and subsection (c) concerns reproductions.  Without properly designating the subsection of 49 CFR § 390.35 Staff alleged was violated by Colorado Cab, there were questions of procedural due process.

29. On December 5, 2014, Staff filed an amended CPAN designating subsection (b) as the subsection alleged to have been violated by Colorado Cab. 

30. The filing of December 5, 2014 was sufficient to meet the requirements of Decision No. R14-1402.

31. Colorado Cab argues that even with this additional filing, the requirements of due process are still not met. 

32. Colorado Cab attempts to draw an analogy between § 40-10.1-104, C.R.S., and 49 CFR § 390.35(b). Colorado Cab correctly states that the Commission upheld the Recommended Decision in Proceeding No. 14G-0359CP in which the ALJ dismissed an alleged violation due to the alleged statutory violation being a general statute that did not “identify the elements of the carrier’s obligations or impose any specific statutory requirements.”
 
33. It is instructive to look at § 40-10.1-104, C.R.S., and 49 CFR § 390.35(b).
A person shall not operate or offer to operate as a motor carrier in this state except in accordance with this article. 

§ 40-10.1-104, C.R.S.

No motor carrier, its agents, officers, representatives, or employees shall make or cause to make 
(b)
A fraudulent or intentionally false entry on any application, certificate, report, or record required to be used, completed, or retained, to comply with any requirement of this subchapter or part 325 of subchapter A[.] 

49 CFR § 390.35(b)

34. In Proceeding No. 14G-0359CP, the Commission found that §§ 40-10.1-201(1), 40-10.1-202(1), and 40-10.1-302(1), C.R.S., were specific statutes as opposed to § 40-10.1-104, C.R.S., since each designated a different type of motor vehicle carrier.
 The Commission felt it was necessary for the CPAN to cite to one of the specific statutes as opposed to the general statute. This would give proper notice as to the type of carrier the Respondent was alleged to have been operating without Commission authority. Without this information the Respondent was not provided notice of the elements necessary to sustain a violation.  

35. In the instant proceeding a similar situation existed prior to Staff’s filing on December 5, 2014. At that time, the only thing known about the alleged violation was that it was for, “No motor carrier, its agents, officers, representatives, or employees shall make or cause to make.”  It could have been for a statement, entry, or reproduction. The CPAN was not specific as to the alleged violation just as the statute in Proceeding No. 14G-0359CP did not cite to a specific type of carrier. 

36. The December 5, 2014 filing made it clear that the alleged violation was for a “fraudulent or intentionally false entry on any application, certificate, report or record required to be used, completed, or retained, to comply with any requirement of this subchapter or part 325 of subchapter A.”  The description that was added made the alleged violation even more specific.

Respondent produced drivers’ hours of service records, required by law to be true and accurate, to Staff personnel which Respondent knew or should have known were not true and accurate.

37. With the filing of December 5, 2014, Colorado Cab was given notice that it is alleged to have made a “fraudulent or intentionally false entry on any application, certificate, report or record to be used, completed, or retained, to comply with any requirement of this subchapter or part 325 of subchapter A.”   
38. The requirements of § 40-7-116(II), C.R.S., are only that a specific statute be designated. With the addition of the subsection that requirement is met. There is not an alleged violation of part 325 of subchapter A.
39. The requirement of § 40-7-116(III), C.R.S., is that a brief description of the alleged violation is provided. It is here that Staff has designated and given notice that the records alleged to be fraudulent or to contain an intentionally false entry are the drivers’ hours of service records. 

40. Colorado Cab fails to recognize that the designation of subsection (b) with the additional description makes the alleged violation clear and meets all the requirements of procedural due process. 
41. The argument of Colorado Cab that the additional description creates a new violation is without merit. The description gives a detailed explanation of the alleged violations of 49 CFR § 390.35(b).  Staff has alleged violations of 49 CFR § 390.35 since the inception of the proceeding. The additional description does not create a new violation.
42. Even if this additional description could somehow be construed as a new violation, Staff is allowed to amend the CPAN at any time prior to the start of a hearing. This amendment was made more than two months before the scheduled start of the hearing so there is no prejudice to Colorado Cab.
V. ORDER
A. The Commission Orders That:  
1. The Motion to Reconsider its Motion to Dismiss Fraud Violations filed by Colorado Cab Company LLC, on December 23, 2014, is denied.

2. This Decision is effective immediately.
	(S E A L)
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


ROBERT I. GARVEY
________________________________
                     Administrative Law Judge




� Colorado Cab Motion to Reconsider p. 4.


� Staff’s Response p. 5.


� Commission Decision No. C14-1452 at ¶16.


� § 40-10.1-201(1), C.R.S. (common carrier); § 40-10.1-202(1), C.R.S. (contract carrier); and �§ 40-10.1-302(1), C.R.S. (limited regulation carrier).
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